
 

 

Authority Members 
Richard Blevins 

Antoinette Griffin 
Chris Davis 

Keith Palmer 
Justin Crocker 

Matt Riedemann 
Kevin Tidwell  

 Kennesaw Development Authority 
Meeting Agenda 

January 15, 2025  6:00 PM 
Council Chambers 

(2529 J.O. Stephenson Avenue, Kennesaw, GA, 30144) 
   

  

1. Call to Order / Roll Call 

2. Approval of the Meeting Minutes 

  A. Approval of Executive Session Minutes 

  B. Approval of KDA Minutes - 8/27/24 

3. Financial Report 

  A. Review financial report as of 12/31/24 

4. Old Business 

  A. Consideration of IGA with City for Jiles Place transfer 

5. New Business 

  A. Election of Officers 

6. Public Comments 

7. Staff Comment 

8. Executive Session 

  A. Pursuant to the provisions of O.C.G.A. 50-14-3, the KDA could, at any time 
during the meeting, vote to close the public meeting and move to executive 
session to discuss matters relating to litigation, legal actions and/or 
communications from the City Attorney as provided under O.C.G.A. 50-14-
2(1); and/or personnel matters as provided under O.C.G.A. 50-14-3 (4) and/or 
real estate matters as provided under O.C.G.A 50-14-3(6). 



9. Adjourn 

 



1/2/2025 9:55:39 AM Page 1 of 1

Balance Sheet
City of Kennesaw Account Summary

As Of 12/31/2024

Account Name Balance

Fund: 780 - KENNESAW DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Assets

780-0000-11-111200-00000 OPERATING ACCOUNT 395,906.14

780-0000-11-131500-00000 CD - PIEDMONT BANK 51,244.94

780-0000-11-710500-00000 LAND HELD FOR RESALE 908,570.29

1,355,721.37Total Assets: 1,355,721.37

Liability

780-0000-12-510100-00000 ADVANCE FROM GENERAL FUND 706,479.36

706,479.36Total Liability:

Equity

780-0000-13-240000-00000 CONTRIB CAP-INTERGOV -145,000.00

780-0000-13-422000-00000 F/B UNRES-UNDESIGNATED 792,003.77

647,003.77Total Beginning Equity:
3,093.74Total Revenue

855.50Total Expense
2,238.24Revenues Over/Under Expenses

Total Liabilities, Equity and Current Surplus (Deficit): 1,355,721.37

649,242.01Total Equity and Current Surplus (Deficit):

https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20a2a07345-d125-8925-c5c0-bbce6dc183bf
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%200664c962-c541-d1fd-26b1-896a4b3851d3
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%206e467296-136e-8e0a-4bb2-539e55709e0a
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20b6efea27-a674-4e60-b79b-b1fd011dea03
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20d0430622-9d10-20a3-522f-46b5dc426714
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%206166b179-f1a4-48b5-f0bc-ea30645bd9d0


1/2/2025 9:55:04 AM Page 1 of 3

Income Statement
City of Kennesaw Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2024-2025 Period Ending: 12/31/2024

MTD Activity YTD Activity
Budget

Remaining
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 780 - KENNESAW DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Revenue

335.77780-0000-36-100000-00000 INTEREST REVENUES 1,002.814,800.00 4,800.00 3,797.19

0.00780-0000-39-113000-00000 TRANSFERS IN GENERAL FUND 2,090.930.00 0.00 -2,090.93

0.00780-0000-39-310500-00000 WALTON RIDENOUR APTS 0.00186,000.00 186,000.00 186,000.00

0.00780-0000-39-400000-00000 USE OF PY RESERVES 0.0023,584.00 23,584.00 23,584.00

335.77 3,093.74214,384.00 214,384.00 211,290.26Revenue Total:

Expense

855.50780-7880-52-121000-00000 LEGAL SERVICES 855.5015,000.00 15,000.00 14,144.50

0.00780-7880-52-125000-00000 OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERV 0.0012,000.00 12,000.00 12,000.00

0.00780-7880-52-332000-00000 MARKETING 0.00250.00 250.00 250.00

0.00780-7880-52-350000-00000 TRAVEL 0.00500.00 500.00 500.00

0.00780-7880-52-363000-00000 MEETING EXPENSES 0.00200.00 200.00 200.00

0.00780-7880-52-370000-00000 CONFERENCE FEES 0.00500.00 500.00 500.00

0.00780-7880-52-395000-00000 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 0.00200.00 200.00 200.00

0.00780-7880-52-600000-00000 SPECIAL EVENTS 0.00500.00 500.00 500.00

0.00780-7880-53-102000-00000 ED STAFF SUPPORT 0.0010,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00

0.00780-7880-53-103000-00000 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 0.0025,000.00 25,000.00 25,000.00

0.00780-7880-61-108500-00000 TRANSFER OUT - GENERAL FUND 0.0070,000.00 70,000.00 70,000.00

0.00780-9000-61-611000-00000 WORKING CAPITAL RESERVE 0.0080,234.00 80,234.00 80,234.00

855.50 855.50214,384.00 214,384.00 213,528.50Expense Total:

-519.73 2,238.240.00 0.00Fund: 780 - KENNESAW DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY Surplus (Deficit):

-519.73 2,238.24Total Surplus (Deficit): 0.000.00

https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%209776a127-6f12-6255-a4d2-817421f6fe25
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20fd5bb39b-ba05-ceba-246d-bdca2955701e
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20247c5efc-f7bb-6c37-08a0-809853e59c0d
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%2051ec22a6-456e-0434-eea7-42ff68ebe5f8
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%205178ab97-52ca-6629-c82e-59d2b1ad4aa4
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%205dbbbac1-51a8-4c67-5ac1-a500639fd47a
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%201092eb9c-5566-c8ec-6b6c-5a93e39fa927
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20c8d03f94-6c15-622f-359f-c00ea1ae501e
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%200fe75e97-661d-6ec7-3d28-c4651f2b625c
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%2049ed8890-fdc1-a240-abef-024fb51b28ca
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%200b5402c2-c214-6856-8aab-b6970068744f
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%2013aa6a7f-f2bc-e06e-36a6-30ac903fb1a8
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20b91326ce-f9b3-4ecb-ae1d-7adeed0702f8
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%205c252864-ccb4-9c5a-0ab4-fa25f11b673c
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%20c8cdd414-20ac-c198-a82d-6eac53fcf1d9
https://incode.tylerhost.net/kennesawga/apps/form/?path=General%20Ledger/Account&$filter=AccountId%20eq%201e4d5e0b-e335-4d2c-8316-b17a010d2be3


Income Statement For Fiscal: 2024-2025 Period Ending: 12/31/2024

1/2/2025 9:55:04 AM Page 2 of 3

Group Summary

MTD Activity YTD Activity
Budget

RemainingAccount Type

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Fund: 780 - KENNESAW DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

335.77 3,093.74214,384.00 214,384.00 211,290.26Revenue

855.50 855.50214,384.00 214,384.00 213,528.50Expense

-519.73 2,238.24 -2,238.240.00 0.00Fund: 780 - KENNESAW DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY Surplus (Deficit):

-519.73 2,238.24Total Surplus (Deficit): 0.000.00



Income Statement For Fiscal: 2024-2025 Period Ending: 12/31/2024

1/2/2025 9:55:04 AM Page 3 of 3

Fund Summary

MTD Activity YTD Activity
Budget

RemainingFund
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

780 - KENNESAW DEVELOPM… -519.73 2,238.24 -2,238.240.000.00

Total Surplus (Deficit): -519.73 2,238.240.000.00



MINUTES OF KENNESAW DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY MEETING 
CITY OF KENNESAW 

Council Chambers 
(2529 J.O. Stephenson Avenue, Kennesaw, GA, 30144) 

August 27, 2024 
6:00 PM 

 
  

1. Call to Order / Roll Call 
 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm by Chair, Richard Blevins.  
 Members present: Richard Blevins, Antoinette Griffin, Keith Palmer, Justin Crocker, 
Matt Riedemann, Kevin Tidwell and Chris Davis 
 Members absent: None 
 Staff present: Luke Howe, Tanyel Aviles 
2. Approval of the Meeting Minutes 
  
  A. Draft Meeting Minutes 7.17.24 
 
The board reviewed the draft minutes from the July 17, 2024 meeting. Matt Riedemann 
made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. The motion was seconded by 
Kevin Tidwell. The motion passed unanimously.  
3. Financial Report 
  
  A. Financials as of 07.31.24 

  
 
Keith Palmer reviewed the financial report as of 7.31.24. The current balance in the 
KDA operating account is $598,497.30, and a Piedmont Bank CD of $50,000. Activity 
on the account included interest accrued and legal fees of $1,798.00. Total assets are 
$648,496.02. Antoinette Griffin made a motion to approve the financial report as 
presented; the motion was seconded by Kevin Tidwell. The motion passed 
unanimously.  
4. Old Business 
  
  A. None 
  
5. New Business 
  
  A. Consideration of Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) 
 
Mr. Fred Bentley states that the KDA had previously elected to move forward with a 
contract or at least a letter of intent (LOI) in connection with the purchase of the 
property at 2881 Main Street. The LOI was executed, and a contract has been 
prepared. This would allow the KDA to reach out to the City to borrow $700,000 to 
close the gap as the KDA will be adding $200,000 for the purchase of 2881 N Main St 

DRAFT



in the amount of $900,000. There would also be closing costs associated with the 
purchase of the property that the KDA would be responsible for. At the time of the sale 
or dispose of that property, the KDA would then repay the City. The Intergovernmental 
Agreement (IGA) accomplishes that. Approval from the KDA will then move the IGA in 
front of Mayor and Council.  
Mr. Luke Howe states that approval of the IGA will appear before Mayor and Council on 
their September 9, 2024 agenda for their work session, and voting would occur 
September 16, 2024. And, if all goes well, closing would occur the week of September 
16, 2024.  
Mr. Chris Davis states that he was not present for the last session. However, upon 
review of the minutes, he states he does not see an approval for the purchase of the 
property. Simply, that they would continue discussion. 
Mr. Luke Howe states that the KDA approved due diligence, and crafted a letter of 
intent (LOI) with contingencies. However, because this is a sale agreement, board 
approval is needed.  
Mr. Chris Davis asks if the LOI states that the board will definitively purchase the 
property.  
Mr. Fred Bentley explains that the LOI states an intention of purchasing the property. 
The contract that has been prepared for approval at the current meeting, should it be 
executed, would authorize the execution of purchase sale agreement. That would then 
go to Mayor and Council for approval. The property is a foreclosure, and the KDA would 
then receive the title to that property.  
Mr. Chris Davis states that he has questions regarding the IGA and the purchase 
agreement. He wants to know why the KDA is purchasing this particular property.  
The KDA debates on whether or not to enter executive session. However, they choose 
to continue without executive session.   
Mr. Fred Bentley explains that the LOI binds the KDA to nothing other than an intent to 
enter into a contract. If the contract is not entered into, then there is nothing to 
consider.  
Mr. Chris Davis asks why the loan amount is $700,000 as opposed to the full $900,000 
purchase price. 
Mr. Fred Bentley explains that the City wants the KDA to have a vested interest, aka 
skin in the game.  
Mr. Chris Davis is concerned as $200,000 would be a third of the KDA's available 
funds.  
Mr. Fred Bentley explains that this is being done in every jurisdiction he is involved in 
and that it is common place for local government to either loan or provide money to go 
buy properties, assemble properties and redevelop. He states that the only way the 
KDA can be assured that they will get the type of use that they are looking for is to 
purchase the property. He explains that the same was done for the Burgerfi/1885 
property, and the KDDA did something similar with the Budgetel property.  
Mr. Chris Davis asks if the KDA would take similar actions. 
Mr. Fred Bentley cites the Revival on Main property as a similar redevelopment as 
well.  
Mr. Matt Riedemann explains that the fiscal investment in those properties was 
reimbursed when the properties were sold. 

DRAFT



Mr. Chris Davis is concerned that the City is unable to permit the property for 
redevelopment.  
Mr. Fred Bentley explains that the KDA may not actively develop the property. They 
may have a development partner that will develop the property.  
Mr. Luke Howe explains that permits are able to be obtained on the property, and have 
been previously obtained.  
Mr. Fred Bentley mentions that the original bank loan on the property was $1.4 million, 
and the KDA would buy the property at $900,000.  
Mr. Chris Davis agrees that it is a good purchase, and the KDA should be invested in 
the City. However, he is concerned about next steps and liability.  
Mr. Luke Howe states that he would like to find a buyer that considers the City's best 
interest. 
Mr. Richard Blevins states that he would like to pick the right individuals or company to 
take over the property.  
Mr. Chris Davis confirms that by buying this property the KDA would have control as to 
who the property is sold to and what can be done with said property.  
Mr. Luke Howe also explains that this is a way to get the KDA more involved in City 
development. He addresses Mr. Davis's concern about next steps and liability by 
explaining that he does not believe the property will be unused for very long as there 
has been great interest thusfar. With current interest rates, if someone were to simply 
buy the property, they may not be able to rehabilitate it properly. If the City holds title to 
the property, they will be in the first position as financier to help with the rehabilitation, 
as opposed to secondary to an existing bank loan. This purchase will allow the City to 
have more control over the development of the property.  
There is a brief discussion speculating about the distribution of any profit made on the 
property. No conclusion was reached.  
Council Liaison, Mr. Pat Ferris, states that the Council agrees with the KDA's $200,000 
investment in this purchase to support development in the City. He believes Mayor and 
Council's intent is to receive $700,000 back on the investment, and they expect to at 
least break even on the sale. The intent is not to make money, but to promote 
development. They would like to see this area be developed into something the City 
can be proud of and something sustainable.  
Mr. Luke Howe states that this is a first step to more projects to develop Kennesaw. 
Mr. Richard Blevins calls for a motion to approve the IGA. Matt Reidemann motions to 
authorize the Chair to sign the IGA with the addition of having the authority to add or 
change any percentages of profits if needed as long as it is consistent with the 
investment. Mr. Keith Palmer seconds the motion. Motion passes unanimously.  
  B. Consideration of the PSA for 2881 N. Main St. 
 
Mr. Chris Davis asks if the property needs to be inspected. 
Mr. Luke Howe states that the property has been inspected by City Staff, and believes 
the price is adequate for the worth of the property.  
Mr. Chris Davis asks about the closing costs.  
Mr. Fred Bentley explains that there is no broker involved in the closing costs. The 
closing costs will be buying the title policy. 
Mr. Richard Blevins calls for a motion to authorize the Chair to sign the purchase sale 

DRAFT



agreement as presented and with any additions by Mayor and Council, and authorize 
the KDA to release $200,000 plus any necessary funds for closing costs, etc. Motion by 
Matt Riedemann. Second by Keith Palmer. Motion carries unanimously.  
  C. Authorize Chairperson to execute closing documents for the acquisition of 

2881 N. Main St. 
 
No action needed.  
6. Public Comments 
 
None 
7. Staff Comment 
 
None 
8. Executive Session 
  
  A. Pursuant to the provisions of O.C.G.A. 50-14-3, the KDA could, at any time 

during the meeting, vote to close the public meeting and move to executive 
session to discuss matters relating to litigation, legal actions and/or 
communications from the City Attorney as provided under O.C.G.A. 50-14-
2(1); and/or personnel matters as provided under O.C.G.A. 50-14-3 (4) and/or 
real estate matters as provided under O.C.G.A 50-14-3(6). 

  
9. Adjourn 
 
Richard Blevins calls for a motion to adjourn. Motion by Kevin Tidwell. Second by Justin 
Crocker. Adjourned at 6:46pm.  

 

DRAFT



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED



AWAITING FULLY EXECUTED


	Preview - Kennesaw Development Authority - 01_15_25
	Agenda Packet - 01.15.25
	Agenda Packet - 01.15.25
	KDA Balance Sheet 12.31.24
	KDA Income Statement 12.31.24
	Kennesaw Development Authority Draft Minutes 08.27.24- Watermark

	2024-62 IGA with KDA for Jiles Place Transfer


